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Roanoke Electric Steel Co orauon )

i e i

The Company is‘ a domestic steel manufacturing company. The Company, directly and
through its subsidiaries, is engaged in the manufacturing, fabricating and marketing of
merchant steel products specialty steel sections, billets and open-web steel joists. Each
subsidiary is either a supplier to the parent company or a purchaser of its fm1shed product
and billets. Thel Company sells products through its sales force to its customers which
include service centers, original equipment manufacturers, and fabricators. |

Roanoke Electric Steel Corporation, the parent company, is a state-of-the-art steel
mini-mill located in Roanoke, Virginia. This facility melts scrap steel in electric furnaces and
continuously casts the molten steel into billets. These billets are rolled into merchant steel
products con51st1ng of angles, plain rounds, flats and channels of various lengths and sizes.
Excess steel billet production is sold to mills without sufficient melting capa01t1es or
facilities. Roanoke Electric Steel Corporation markets its products to steel serv1ce centers
and fabricators: 1

Steel of West Virginia, Inc., through its subsidiary, SWVA, Inc., is asteel| mini-mill and
steel fabricating facility operatlng in Huntington, West Virginia. A steel fabncatmg
subsidiary, Marshall Steel, Inc., is located in Memphis, Tennessee. These locat:lons produce
or fabricate specialty steel sect1ons and custom-finished products and serve mche markets.

Shredded Products Corporation, a subsidiary with operations in Rocky Mount and
Montvale, Virginia, extracts scrap steel and other metals from junked automobﬂes and other
waste materials. These facilities supply the parent company with a substantlall amount of its
raw materials. Nonferrous metals generated in the process are sold to unrelated customers.

John W. Hancock, Jr., Inc. and Socar, Inc. are steel fabrication subs1d1ar1es located in
Salem, Virginia, Florence, South Carolina and Continental, Ohio. All three operations
purchase rounds and angles from the parent company to fabricate steel joists and joist
girders. These] ]01sts and joist girders are used as horizontal supports for ﬂoor]s and roofs in
commercial and industrial buildings. The Hancock facility also manufactures structural
pallet rack and structural cantilever rack. This rack is used for heavy storage in retail,

warehouses and distribution centers. }

RESCO Steel Products Corporation, a Salem, Virginia based subsidiary, fabricated
concrete reinforcing steel by cutting and bending it to contractor spec1f1c;at10ns until its sale
on January 27, 2005 (see Note 1 - Discontinued Operations). \




2005 Results

Fiscal 008, our 50th year in business, was the best year in the history of our company. We are
especially pleased because this marks the second year in a row of record sales and earnings. We
are also proud to report the achievement of a number of financial records during the year:

+ Record sales of $546,612,163
+ Record earnings of $40,319,433
- Record earnings per share of $3.63

+ Record shareholders’ equity of $192,449,434

In 2005, the company had earnings of $40,319,433, an increase of 32.4 % over the previous
record earnings of $30,446,248 achieved last year. Basic earnings per share were $3.63 in 2005,
compared to basic earnings per share of $2.78 in 2004.

The upward momentum experienced by our company in 2004 continued in 2008. Sales for 2005
of $546,612,163 increased 17.4% from the previous record level set in 2004, due to improved
average selling prices for most of our products. The improvement in average selling prices was
principally due to the continued volatile scrap market, which prompted industry-wide price
increases due to the rising cost of scrap steel. In fact, average selling prices increased during the
year by 18.6% for merchant bar products, by 18.4% for specialty steel products, by 4.0% for
fabricated products and by 11.7% for billets. Our gross margins also improved during the year, as
increases in average selling prices exceeded the increases in average scrap costs.

Sales Stockholders' Equity
($Millions)

($Millions)
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Financial Gon(iition

Our financial cd)ndition continued to improve during the year. In October 2004, the company
finalized a newiB-year loan facility with its banking syndicate, providing a revolving credit line
and less restrictive covenants than the prior agreement. In addition, at year-end the company
reported: |

+ Working capital of $111,181,959
+ A current ratio of 2.1to 1,and a quick ratio of .9to 1 ]J
+ A reduction 1n net debt (funded debt less cash and cash equivalents) of $5 1,5‘56,68’7

+ Long-term dept as a percentage of total capital at 6.6%, down from 27.5% las;t year
i

l

|

Throughout our history, a hallmark of our company has been continued investment in
equipment, processes and technology. However, capital expenditures were limited during the last
few years, due to one of the most prolonged and difficult downturns ever experienced in the steel
industry. During 8008, we were able to address needed capital expenditures dlfle to our improved
financial position and increased free cash flows resulting from the company’s improved results,
ensuring our position as a low-cost producer and further enhancing sharehold?er value.

i
'

Total Assets Working Capital
: ($Millions) ($Millions)
360 ;
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Shareholder Value

Continuing the trend from 2004, when our share price increased by 47%, the company
continued to create value for our shareholders in 2008, as our share price increased by 50%
during the year. In addition, the cash dividends for our shareholders increased from $.36 in
2004 t0 $.44 in 2005, more than a 22% increase. The company also declared its 188th
consecutive quarterly dividend in the amount of 11 cents per share, payable November 25,
2005. Based on the share price at year-end, the annual yield on our common stock was
approximately 2%.

Looking Forward

Aswe look to fiscal 2006, we sadly see the 50-year history of Roanoke Electric Steel Corporation
as an independent company coming to a close. But, we are equally excited and looking forward
with anticipation to the beginning of our next 80 years with Steel Dynamics, Inc. The merger will
place our company in a much better position to undertake necessary capital projects, meet
inereasing competitive pressures and serve customers more efficiently. The financial strength
and resources of Steel Dynamics will present greater opportunities for the company to grow and
prosper in the future.

Capitalization Capital Expenditures
($Millions) And Depreciation

($Millions)
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It has been odr pleasure to report the progress made by our company over the last 50 years.
Traveling the road of success, from our beginning in 1955 to the close of our 50th year, culminating
in sales of over ene half billion dollars and earnings of over $40 million, has been a remarkable and
wonderful journey. None of this would have been possible without the dedication of our pastand
present employees and we thank them for their years of loyalty, hard work and commltment to
excellence. We would also like to thank our many valued customers for their contmbutmn toour
success over the years. To you, our shareholders, we greatly appreciate your 1nterest confidence
and 1nvestment} in Roanoke Electric Steel Corporation. |

|

Finally, we ell owe a special debt of gratitude to the one individual who, 50 yea‘.rs ago, took &
visionto reehty by creating a company, which throughout its history, has aehleved almost
unprecedented\results in the steel industry - Mr. John W. “Jack” Hancock, Jr. HIS dream, his
perseverance and unending drive, his dedication and many years of stewardsh;p, his loyalty to
those around him and, especially, his honesty, integrity and keen business sense all combined to
mold this company into what it has become today. We know that he would be proud of what our
company has accomplished in our first 50 years and that he would be fully behmd the direction
we have chosen for our next 50 years. Thank you, Jack, for what has been a, greet ride and for
paving the road to what promises to be an exciting and prosperous future. |

T.Joe Crawford Donald G. Smith
President ; Chairman of the Board
Chief Operating Officer Chief Executive Officer
‘Earnings Earmngs/Dmdends Per Share
- ($Millions) ($Dollars)
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Year Ended October 31, 2005 2004~ 003* 2008~ 2001~
Operations
Sales $846,612,163 $465,586,429 $303,569,211 $253,471,036 $208,387,071
Gross earnings 102,505,950 81,856,414 22,206,273 15,639,384 33,028,819
Interest expense 3,412,641 4,480,195 5,435,464 6,558,936 8,670,337
Income tax expense
(benefit) 24,675,957 18,317,681 (1,706,927) (4,420,665) 1,013,926
Earnings (loss) from
continuing operations
before cumulative effect
of change in accounting
principle 41,248,394 30,620,387 (8,521,834) (8,944,794) 1,528,200
Farnings (loss) from
continuing operations 41,245,394 30,620,387 (8,750,244) (8,944,794) 1,628,200
Loss on discontinued
operations (see Note 1) (925,961) (174,139) (474,709) (64,103) (180,178)
Net earnings (loss) 40,319,433 30,446,248 (3,224,953) (6,008,897) 1,348,023
Financial Position
Working capital $111,181,959 $115,500,754 $ 85,281,889 $ 94,675,819 $104,919,632
Total assets 333,410,087 318,971,033 270,867,486 289,717,573 316,886,778
Long-term debt and capital
lease obligation, excluding
current portion 13,628,213 58,941,362 63,958,948 78,792,278 93,835,033
Stockholders’ equity 192,449,434 155,395,361 126,065,624 130,088,698 138,606,184
Selected Ratios
Gross profit margin 18.8% 17.6% 7.3% 6.2% 11.1%
Operating income (loss) margin 7.5% 6.6% (0.9%) (R.3%) 0.5%
Effective tax (benefit) rate 37.4% 37.4% (40.4%) (42.6%) 39.9%
Current ratio 2.1 2.6 2.9 3.2 3.2
Quick ratio 0.9 1.0 1.4 1.6 1.8
Funded debt as a percentage
of total capital 18.5% 29.5% 36.2% 41.7% 44.0%
Return on average stockholders’
equity 233.2% R1.6% (2.5%) (4.5%) 1.0%
Per Share Data
Earnings (loss) from continuing
operations before cumulative
effect of accounting change:
Basic $3.71 $2.79 $(0.23) $(0.54) $0.14
Diluted 3.67 R.77 (0.23) (0.54) 0.14
Loss on discontinued operations:
Basic (0.08) (0.02) (0.04 (0.0D (0.02)
Diluted (0.08) (0.02) (0.04) (0.0D (0.02)
Net earnings (loss):
Basic 3.63 2.78 (0.29) (0.85) 0.12
Diluted 3.59 2.76 0.29) (0.85) 0.12
Cash dividends 0.44 0.36 0.20 0.35 0.40
Stockholders’ equity 17.26 14.11 11.83 11.97 12.70
Weighted average common
shares outstanding:
Basic 11,118,490 10,987,586 10,038,999 10,934,380 10,908,584
Diluted 11,243,655 11,034,445 10,945,346 10,967,904 10,950,723

* Certain profit sharing costs relating to production employees have been reclassified from Lileslr original presentation to conform with the current year presentation.



Year Ended October 31,

2008 2004 2003
SALES ............. RO $ 546,612,183 $ 465,586,429 $ 303,569,211
COSTS ‘
435,660,134 376,017,112 280,304,764
| 8,446,079 7,732,903 1,058,174
Total ............ e 444,106,213 383,780,015 ‘ 281,362,938
i \
GROSSEARNINGS ...ttt 102,805,950 81,836,414 22,206,273
OTHER OPERATING EX?ENSES (INCOME)
AGMINISEPAEIVE .. .o e ettt e 31,526,927 30,026,395 21,735,226
Interest expense .. r ....................................... 3,412,641 4,480,195 5,435,464
Profit sharing ...... ‘ ....................................... 1,988,434 1,661,270 218,862
Inferest NCOME ... vt e e (218,501) (207,694) (433,8588)
Antitrust litigation seitlement .............................. (97,902) (3,081,820) (820,960)
Total ............ S 36,684,599 32,898,346 26,435,034
EARNINGS (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFCRE
INCOME TAXES AND CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTINGPRINCIPLE ...... .o 65,921,351 48,938,068 (4,228,761)
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT) ...........oooiiviinnn, 24,875,957 18,317,681 (1,706,927)
EARNINGS (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE
CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE .. 41,245,394 30,680,387 (R,521,834)
CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE ... - - (228,410)
EARNINGS (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS ............. 41,245,394 30,620,387 (R,750,244)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (NOTE 1):
LOSS ON DISCONTINqED OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES
(INCLUDINGLOSSONSALE) .....ovvviiniiiiinianen (1,518,263) (271,974) (756,458)
INCOME TAXBENEFIT ...\ttt e, (592,302) (97,835) (R81,749)
LOSS ON DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS ............... ..o, (925,961) (174,139 (474,709)
NET EARNINGS (LOSS)z ...................................... $ 40,319,433 $ 30,446,248 $ (3,224,953)
EARNINGS (LOSS) PERiSHARE OF COMMON STOCK:
BASIC:
EARNINGS (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE
CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF ACCOUNTING CHANGE ........... $ 371 $ 2.79 $ (0.83)
CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF ACCOUNTING CHANGE ............ - - (0.08)
EARNINGS (L0SS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS ......... 3.71 .79 (0.28)
LOSSON DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS ...t (0.08) (0.02) (0.04)
NET EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK . ..... $ 3.63 $ 2.78 $ (0.29)
DILUTED:
EARNINGS (LOSS) EROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE
CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF ACCOUNTING CHANGE ........... $ 3.67 $ .77 $ (0.23)
CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF ACCOUNTINGCHANGE ............ - - (0.02)
EARNINGS (LOSS) EROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS ......... 3.67 _.77 (0.25)
LOSS ON DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS ....ovveereetieeinnn (0.08) (0.08) (0.04)
NET EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK ... ... $ 3.59 $ 2.76 $ (0.29)
$ 0.36 $ 0.20

CASH DIVIDENDS PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK ............. $ 0.44

See notes to consclidated ﬁnaﬁcia.l statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cashandecashequivalents . ... ..o i e e s

Accounts receivable, net of allowances of
$1,813,500in 2005 and $4,312,4511NR004 .. ... ottt

BB a4 0170 LT
Prepaid expenses and other CUPTENt @SSEES ... ..o e
Deferred INC0MME BAXES .. v\ttt et e e

TOb Al U PEI BSOS « . ottt ittt e e e e e e

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
LN o e e
B 40 31 0) o) (011311 1 - P
BUIA NS . o e e
Manufacturing machineryandequipment ...... ..ot e
Otherpropertyandequipment ... ... o e
ASSetS UNAEr COMSIPUCHION . . ottt e

Less-accumulated depreciabion . ... e
Property,plant and equipment, met . ... ... i e

GO DT -ttt e s

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current portion of long-term debt and capitallease obligation . .......... ... .ot
BanK OVerAra ..o e
Accounts payable and other acCrued €XPENSES ... vttt
DividenndS PAFADIE . . ..ot e e
Employees’taxeswithheld ....... ..o o i
Accrued profit sharing contribUtion . ...t e e
Accrued wages and related eXPenses ... ...
ACCPUBA eI baKES « . ottt e e e

Total current Habillbies ... .. e

LONG-TERM DEBT AND CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATION ..... ...,
DEFERRED INCOME TAR B o e e e
OTHE R LIABILI I S . e e e

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (NOTE 7)

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Common stock-no par value-authorized 20,000,000 shares,
issued 12,421,427 shares in2005and 123,288,927inR004 ... ... .. ...,

Additional paid-n capital ... e e
Retained earmings . . ... e e
Accumulated other comprehensive inCOMe ...t e e e

Less-treasury stock, 1,273,114 sharesatcost . ... i
Total st0CKhOIders BQUILY . . .o\ oot

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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October 31,

2005 2004
$ 17,609,681 $ 869,000
69,832,819 75,558,674
111,148,498 102,099,659
2,745,513 1,898,841
9,259,363 8,011,122
210,685,874 188,437,286
7,589,354 7,734,589
8,659,969 8,800,131
39,979,492 44 811,189
120,985,300 136,230,189
26,503,800 30,560,246
3,695,866 2,205,425
207,413,781 230,341,769
101,587,193 117,318,369
105,856,588 113,023,400
13,868,647 13,868,647
2,998,958 3,641,690
$ 333,410,087 $ 318,071,033

$ 21,607,281

$ 6,019,598

- 4,777,540
38,287,878 27,874,916
1,226,315 1,211,740
232,503 248,408
7,30%,741 7,881,882
81,182,355 156,376,015
98,664,848 10,146,773
99,503,915 7,036,848
13,625,813 58,941,368
24,710,686 28,162,6R0
3,120,909 5,545,148
6,067,686 8,333,829
1,063,177 885,427
185,146,709 149,731,709
89,730 262,364
193,287,308 156,213,238
817,868 817,868
193,440,434 155,398,861
$ 338,410,067 $ 318,971,033




Consolidated Statements Of Stockholders'
Equity And Gomprepensive Earnings (Loss)

Common Stock

Shares Amount

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive

Income (Loss)

|
|

Trea%sury Stock

(At Cost)

Shares

Amount

Comprehensive

Earnings
(Loss)

BALANCE,NOVEMBER 1,2002 ... 12,215,827 §$ 4,394,889
Comprehensive loss: i
Netloss ........... IR - -
Other comprehensive éa,rnings,
net of tax:

Unrealized gain on “4vailable
for sale” securities ....... - -

Accretion of past hedging
relationships ....L....... - -

Change in derivative)
finaneial instruments . ... - -

Other comprehensive
garnings .............. - -

Comprehensiveloss .;....... - -

Repurchase and retirement
of common stock .. boevonns (10,000) -

Cash dividends .....\....... - -

$ 128,719,560 $ (1,307,883) 1,273,114 §$ 817,868

(3,3R4,983)

(70,140)
(R,187,563)

67,688
510,419

(18,628)

BALANCE, OCTOBER 51,2b05 .... 12,205,927 4,394,889
Comprehensive earningé:
Net earnings PR - -
Other comprehensive e}amings,
net of tax;
Unrealized loss on
“available for sale”’
securities............... - -
Accretion of past hedging
relationships ... .. e - -
Change in derivative :
financial instruments .... - -

Other comprehensive
earnings ....... [oooenn. - -

Comprehensive earnings . . ... - -
Stock options exercised

orexpired ................ 83,000 038,040 $

Cash dividends ............. - -

885,437

123,236,904

30,446,248

(3,951,443)

(748,301) 1,873,1 lLl 817,868

(26,077)
797,464

239,178

BALANCE, OCTOBER 31,2004 ... 12,388,927 5,333,829
Comprehensive earnings;
Net earnings ........ e - -
Other comprehensive loss,
net of tax: ‘

Unrealized loss on
“available for sale” :
securities........ Wvreeen - -

Change in derivative :
financial instruments . ... - -

Other comprehensive loss . . - -
Comprehensive earnings . ... . - -

Stock options exercised ....... 123,500 1,633,857
Restricted stock awards g‘yanted 9,000 -

Cashdividends........ A - -

885,487

177,780

149,731,709

40,319,433

(4,004,433)

263,264

(41811

(130,923)

1,873,11

]4 817,868

BALANCE,OCTOBER51,2dOS.... 12,421,427 §$ 6,967,686 $ 1,083,177 $§ 185,146,708 § 89,730

1,878,114 § 817,868

i
See notes to consolidated financial Statements.
I
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$ (3,224,953)

67,688
510,418
(18,825)

559,682
$ (2,665,371

$ 30,446,248

(6,077)
797,464
139,178

1,010,565
$31,4586,813

$ 40,319,433

(41,811)

(130,923)
(178,534)
$ 40,146,899



Consolidated Statements Of Cash Flows

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net earnings (1088) .\ttt i e e e e e
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash provided
by (used in) operating activities:
Stock-based compensation eXpense . ... i
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ...................
Directors’ retirement planliability ............. ... . ... o L
Postretirement liabilities ........ ... . i
Landfill closure obligabion .. ...
Depreciation and amortization ............ ... ... ..ol
Write-off of deferred financingcost ................ L iiil
(Gain) lossonsaleof investments .......... ... i i
(Gain) loss on sale of property,plant and equipment ...................
Deferred income taxbenefit ............ ... ... i
Workers’ compensation insurance deposit ....... ... it
Lossonsaleofsubsidiary .........co i e
Changes in assets and liabilities whichprovided .................. ...,
(used) cash, exclusive of changes shown separately ..................
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities ......................

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Expenditures for property,plant and equipment ................ .. ...
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment .. ............. ...,
Purchasesofinvestments ............. ... ...
Proceeds from sales of investments .. ... i i
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary ...
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ......................

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cashdividends ... vriir e e e
Increase (decrease) individendspayable ... ... ...t
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options .....................
Paymentsoflongtermdebt . ......... i
Proceeds fromlongtermdebt ........ ... ..
Repurchase of commonstock ............. i
Financingcostspaid ... ..o e
Interest rate swap terminationfee . ........ ... .o o o
Proceeds from (repayment of) bank overdraft ................ ... ...
Capitalleaseobligation ......... . i
Payment of capitalleaseprincipal ....... ...t i

Net cash used in financing activities ............. ... ... L

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS .........
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNINGOFYEAR ..................

CASHAND CASH EQUIVALENTS,ENDOFYEAR ..................oo

CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES WHICH PROVIDED
(USED) CASH,EXCLUSIVE OF CHANGES SHOWN SEPARATELY

(Increase) decrease inaccounts receivable ...............c.oovvviint
(Increase) decrease in refundable incometaxes ............... ... ...
(Increase) decreaseininventories ......... ...ttt
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets ...... .
(Increase) decreaseinotherassets ..........cooviv v,
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and other accured expenses . ...
Increase (decrease) in acerued profit sharing contribution .............
Increase (decrease) in accrued incometaxes ..............oiviiint,
Increase (decrease) in otherliabilities ......... . ... it

See notes to consolidated financial statements. 17

Year Ended October 31,

2005 2004 2003
$ 40,319,433 $ 30,446,248 $ (3,224,853)
1,747,324 - -

- - 228,410
874,776 - -
(386,696) (18%,849) R89,374

36,066 33,634 31,367

14,304,297 15,881,231 15,897,881

- 375,624 -

- (34,953) 86,811

78,026 (10,771) 38,852

(4,602,983) (4,933,072) (R,095,404)

- (1,000,000) (676,000)
790,685 - -
5,183,797 (46,686,288) 9,031,743

58,284,758 (6,111,196) 19,547,981
(8,026,478) (4,216,791) (2,694,137)

187,613 54,981 7,440

- (1,143,794) (8,743,053)

- 5,146,030 12,974,436
4,206,829 - -

(3,698,037) (159,574 7,544,686
(4,504,433) (3,851,443) (?,187,563)

14,875 665,099 (500)

1,633,857 938,940 -
(64,208,868) (71,792,878) (R2,642,755)
34,500,000 65,252,012 -

- - (70,140)

- (770,758) (285,000)

- (1,382,780) (863,681)

(4,777,540) 4,777,540 -

- - 234,557

(19,698) (18,606) (7,003)
(37,762,007 (6,282,874) (25,721,988)
16,830,681 (1R,553,044) 1,370,682

869,000 13,422,044 18,081,368

$ 17,609,681 $ 869,000 $ 13,422,044
$ 3,380,277 $ (29,089,394) $ (6,167,956)

- 608,244 3,670,174
(10,863,193) (42,534,414) 8,797,387

(584,981) (64,910) (347,484)

(83,032) (81,908) (120,064)
10,432,063 5,798,082 6,889,798

R1,189 5,941,910 734,919
(481,931) 10,146,773 -
3,272,476 1,589,356 1,674,009

$ 5123797 $ (46,686,288) $ 9,031,743




Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of consoljdation - Roanoke Electric Steel Corporation is both an operating company and a holding company with both direct
and indirect subsidigries. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Roanoke Electric Ste]el Corporation and its
wholly-owned subsidiaries, Shredded Products Corporation, John W. Hancock, Jr., Inc., Socar, Inc., RESCO Steel Products Corporation,
Roanoke Technical Treatment & Services, Inc. and Steel of West Virginia, Inc. (collectively, the “Company”). Allisignificant intercompany
accounts and transagtions have been eliminated. The Company operates in a single business segment. For purposes of this annual
report, the defined te:rm “Company” will, depending on the context, refer to Roanoke Electric Steel Corpora,tioﬁ and its subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis or refer to Roanoke Electric Steel Corporation as an operating company.

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Cash in excess of operating requirments is invested in short-term instruments which are carried at fair
value, which approximates cost. The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an briginal maturity of three
months or less to be ¢ash equivalents. Cash equivalents were approximately $17,984,000 and $3,953,000 at bctober 31,2005 and
2004, respectively. |

Investments- During 2004, the Company sold substantially all of its investments. Historically, investments cc}ansisted primarily of debt
securities which were classified as “available for sale”. “Available for sale” securities were reported at fair value with unrealized gains

and losses reported as other comprehensive income.

Inventories - Inventories of the Company are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined princip’a.lly using either the first-
in, first-out (“FIFO™) or cost averaging method of accounting and includes materials, costs of production and ma.nufactumng overhead.
The determination of market includes such factors as utility of goods, the ability to dispose of the goods in the; ordlnary course of

business, physical obsolescence and changes in price levels (see Note 2). ‘

Property, Plant and Eqmpment -These assets are stated at cost. Depreciation expense is computed by straiglilt -line and declining-
balance methods. Maintenance and repairs are charged against operations as incurred. Major items of renewals and betterments are
capitalized and depreciated over their estimated useful lives. Upon retirement or other disposition of plant a,nd equipment, the cost and

related accumulated depreciation are removed from the balance sheet, and the resulting gain or loss is reﬂecte%i in earnings (see Note 3).

The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicat«ia the carrying amount of
such assets may not be recoverable. Impairment losses are recorded on long-lived assets used in operations Vﬁhen indicators of
impairment are present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated during the life of those assets are less than the

assets' carrying amounts. The impairment loss is measured by comparing the fair value of the asset to its carrying amount.

Goodwill - The Compa,ny applies the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 142 “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets”, which requires allocating goodwill to each reporting unit and testing for impairment usmg a two-step approach.
Based on the Company’s current reporting structure, it has determined that it operates as three reporting Units and, therefore, has
assigned goodwill at the operating division level. Fair value is measured using a valuation based on market multiples, comparable
transactions and discounted cash flow methodologies. The goodwill impairment test is performed annually as of May 31 or whenever an
event has oceurred that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrymg| amount (see Note 12).

Deferred Financing Costs - Deferred financing costs are included in other long-term assets and represent costs related to issuing the
Company's long- term debt. Such amounts are being amortized over the remaining term of the related flnanclr{g, using the effective
interest method, andlare included in interest expense (see Note 5). ]‘

Income Taxes - Deferred income taxes are provided by the asset and Hability method, which requires the Pecoénition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences of temporary differences between tax bases and ﬁna,ncié,l reporting bases of other
assets and liabilities (see Note 4). !

Revenue Recognition - Revenue is recognized when title transfers upon shipment. Additionally, revenue is recognized on certain
fabricated products gold pursuant to construction contracts utilizing the percentage-of-completion method. P§rcentage of completion is

1
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measured principally based on steel consumed on finished product as a percentage of the estimated steel required for each contract. The
Company recognizes profit at the time revenue is recognized, based on its estimates as to the project status and the remaining steel to
be consumed to complete & particular project. If actual consumption exceeds estimated consumption, then the percentage of completion
method is adjusted to prorate revenue up to the amount allowed by the contract in the period determined. Costs and estimated earnings
on uncompleted contracts were $6,668,645 as of October 31,2005 and $3,367,434 as of October 31,2004, and are included in
accounts receivable. Such fabricated products accounted for 17%, 16%, and 18% of the Company's consolidated sales for the years ending
QOctober 31,2005,2004 and 2003, respectively.

The Company records shipping and handling expenses in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF™) Issue No. 00-10,
“Accounting for Shipping and Handling Fees and Cost”. Shipping and handling charges, billed to the customer, are included in sales
revenues and the costs associated with such shipments are included in cost of sales. There were no sales to an unaffiliated customer in
excess of 10% of consolidated sales for 2005, 2004 or 2003.

Concentration of Credit Risk - The Company sells to a large customer base of steel fabricators, steel service centers, original equipment
manufacturers and construction contractors, most all of which deal primarily on 30-day credit terms. The Company believes its
concentration of credit risk to be minimal in any one geographic area or market segmens. The Company performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and generally does not require collateral. Credit losses are generally within
management's expectations.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments - At October 31,2008, the fair value of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, and long-term debt approximated amounts recorded in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Stock-Based Compensation - On January 28,2005, the shareholders of the Company approved the “Roanoke Electric Steel Corporation
2005 Stock Incentive Plan” (the “2005 Stock Plan”). The 2005 Stock Plan is integral to the Company’s compensation strategy and
programs and is intended to help the Company recruit, motivate and retain the caliber of employees and outside directors essential to
the Company's success, and will further align the interests of those employees and outside directors with the interests of the Company’s
shareholders.

A maximum of 1,780,000 shares of the Company’s common stock is available for issuance under the 2005 Stock Plan, subject to
adjustment upon the occurrence of any stock dividend or other distribution, stock split, merger, consolidation, combination, share
repurchase or exchange or other similar transaction or event. No more than 1,500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock may be
issued under incentive awards to employees of the Company or its subsidiaries, and no more than 250,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock may be issued to outside directors.

The 2005 Stock Plan provides for the grant of stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights,
performance grants, and deferred shares and is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors.

The 2005 Stock Plan does not amend the Employees’ Stock Option Plan or the Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan. There are O and
1,000 shares available for future issuance under these existing plans. As of October 31,2005, options covering 217,500 and 19,500
shares of the Company's common stock were outstanding under the Employee's Stock Option Plan and Non-Employee Director Stock
Option Plan, respectively.

On January 28,2005, the Compensation Committee approved, and the Board of Directors ratified, an aggregate of 192,080 performance
grants to certain executives under the 2005 Stock Plan. A performance grant is an award of a base number of performance shares. Of
these awards, 34,570 performance shares have a one-year performance period ending on October 31,2005, 69,140 have a two-year
performance period ending on October 31,2008, and 88,370 have a three-year performance period ending on October 31,2007, An
employee is entitled to receive one share of the Company’s common stock for each performance share that vests at the end of a specified
performance period. For any performance shares to vest, an employee must remain in continuous employment (subject to certain
exceptions for death, disability, or retirement) until the end of the specified performance period. The number of performance shares
that vest will be determined based on the Company's average return on invested capital relative to the average return on invested
capital of peer companies, with none of the base number of shares vesting if the Company's relative average return on invested capital is
less than the 45th percentile, and 5%, 100%, and 200% of the base number of shares vesting if the Company's relative average return
on invested capital equals the 45th, 78th and 95th percentile, respectively. Notwithstanding the vesting schedule, if the Company's
average return on invested capital is negative for a performance period, no more than 25% of the base number of performance shares
will vest. In the event of & change of control, 100% of the base number of performance shares will vest (see Note 19).

Also on January 28,2008, each of the Company’s six outside directors received an award of 1,500 shares of restricted stock of the
Company pursuant to the terms of the 2005 Stock Plan. The shares of restricted stock will become fully vested and transferable if the
outside director remains in continuous service on the Board of Directors until January 28, 2006.
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Prior to November 1\ 2004, the Company accounted for share-based payments under the intrinsic value method recognition and

measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board (“APB") Opinion No. 5, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”, and
related Interpretations. In accordance with APB No. 25, compensation cost was recognized over the apphcable service period for the
difference between the exercise price of the award and the fair value of the stock price on the grant date. No optlons were granted in
fiscal 2008, During & 2004 and 2003, options were granted for 112,500 shares in each year. There was full recogmtlon of the

compensation cost of $205,875 and $167,625 during the years ended October 31,2004 and 2003 respectlvely, which represented the
excess of the fair mgrket value over the exercise price of the common stock.
The following table illustrates the effect on net earnings (loss) and earnings (loss) per share if the Company had applied the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, to stock-based employeg compensation:
‘ |
Year Ended October 31,
; 2004 2003
Net earnings (loss):
ASTEPOPLEA ..o oot e $ 30,446,248 $ (3,224,953)
Deduct total stock-based compensation
expense determined under fair value
method for all awards,netoftax ............... (88,313) (R06,177)
Proforma ... $ 30,357,935 $ (3,431,130)
Basic net earnings (logs) per share:
ASTEPOTEEd ... . $ 2.78 $ (0.29)
PPOTOPIIE .« @'ttt $ 277§ 0.31)
Diluted netjearnings (loss) per share:
ASTEPOPLEA ..o $ 2.76 $ (0.29)

PPOfOPIE ... ..veie et $ 276§ (03D

\

|

|

1

The fair value of ea,ch option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model w1th the following weighted

average assumptions used for grants in 2004 and 20083, respectively: dividend yield of 2.70% and 1.58%; exp,ected volatility of 37.94%
1

and 6'7.24%; risk-free interest rates of 3.18% and 3.258%; and an expected life of 5 years. |
|

The Company’s stock option plans are described more fully in Note 10. |

On November I, 2004, the Company early adopted SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment”. SFAS No. 123R rec';uires all share-based
payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options and purchases under employee stock purcihase plans, to be
recognized as an operating expense in the income statement. The cost of such share-based payments is to be I;’ecognized over the
requisite service period based on fair values measured on the grant date of the award. The Company adopted SFAS No. 123R using the
modified prospective/method. Under this method, SFAS No. 123R applies to new awards and to awards modiﬁéd, repurchased, or
cancelled after October 31,2004. Additionally, compensation cost for the portion of awards for which the reqﬂisite service has not been
rendered that are outsta,nding as of October 31,2004 is recognized as the requisite service is rendered. The a’doption of SFAS No. 123R
had no effect on the C‘ompany’s financial statements at the date of adoption, since the requisite service had be]en rendered for all awards

outstanding as of October 31,2004. !

Under SFAS No. 125R the fair value of each performance grant and each share of restricted stock issued on January 28,2008, is equal to
the market price of thg Company’s common stock on that date. Unamortized compensation cost of $3,414,222 rglated to 172,872
performance shares will be recognized over the weighted average requisite service period of 1.63 years and may be adjusted based on
management’s future|estimates of the amount of performance shares that will vest based on the Company’s performance relative to its
peers. Compensation|expense of $1,569,574 is reflected in the consolidated statement of earnings for the year ended October 31,2005,
The total fair value of 9,000 restricted fully vested shares awarded to directors of $177,750 was recognized during the year ended October
31,2008. Under the térms of the award, the actual number of performance grants that vest depends upon the Coﬁlpany’s average return on
invested capital relative to the average return on invested captial of peer companies, with the potential ranging fr'iom 0% to 200% of each
award. However, uponlthe occurrence of a change of control involving the Company, 100% of the performance gra%nts vest and are settled in

cash rather than shares of the Company’s common stock. Accordingly, these awards have been classified in curre‘nt liabilities (see Note 19).

|
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The total income tax benefit recognized in the statements of earnings for shars-based compensation arrangements was $653,499,
$76,997 and $67,721 for the years ended October 31,2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Derivative Instruments - The fair value of derivatives used as cash flow hedging activities is recorded on the balance sheets, and the
change in fair value is recorded through other comprehensive income (see Note 6).

Discontinued Operations - On January 27,2005, RESCO Steel Products Corporation (“RESC0”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, sold its reinforcing bar fabrication assets, which represented substantially all of its assets, to Rockingham Steel, Inc.
(“Rockingham Steel), a reinforeing bar fabricator located in Harrisonburg, Virginia. The agreed upon price for the assets sold by RESCO
was $4.2 million. In connection with the close of operations of RESCO, the Company incurred one-time charges of $550,000 associated
with the sale, representing (1) $330,000 for costs associated with termination of employees, including severance, accrued vacation,
insurance and other miscellaneous benefits and () $220,000 for transaction costs, including legal, investment banking, accounting and
other professional fees, and other miscellaneous costs of the transaction. Such costs are included in the loss from discontinued operations
in the accompanying statement of earnings for the year ended October 31,2005. The results of RESCO are presented as discontinued
operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of earnings and include a pre-tax loss on the sale of RESCO of $1,340,685.

Revenues of $4,045,515 and pre-tax loss of $1,518,263 (which includes the $1,340,685 loss on sale) related to RESCO are included in
discontinued operations for the year ended October 31,2005, Revenues of $13,790,759 and $8,521,745 and pre-tax losses of
$271,974 and $756,458 related to RESCO are included in discontinued operations for the years ended October 31,2004 and 2003,
respectively. The carrying amounts as of October 31,2004 of the major classes of assets and liabilities disposed were as follows:
accounts recsivable of $2,589,211, inventories of $1,891,114, and net property, plant and equipment of $864,090.

Recently Adopted and Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements - On November 1, 2004, the Company early adopted SFAS No.
123R, “Share-Based Payment”. SFAS No. 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock
options and purchases under employee stock purchase plans, to be recognized as an operating expense in the income statement. The
cost of such share-based payments is to be recognized over the requisite service period based on fair values measured on the grant date
of the award. The Company adopted SFAS No. 123R using the modified prospective method. Under this method, SFAS No. 123R applies
to new awards and to awards modified, repurchased, or cancelled after October 31,2004, Additionally, compensation cost for the
portion of awards for which the requisite service has not been rendered that are outstanding as of October 31,2004 is recognized as the
requisite service is rendered. The adoption of SFAS No. 123R had no effect on the Company’s financial statements for the first quarter
of 2005 since the requisite service had been rendered for all awards outstanding as of October 31,2004. During 2005, the Company
began to recognize compensation cost for awards issued on January 28, 2005, reflected in the 8005 statement of earnings, related to its
stock plans in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123R.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs - an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4”. SFAS No. 151 amends
the guidance in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, “Inventory Pricing,” to clarify the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense,
freight, handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage) and requires these costs be treated as current period charges. Inaddition, SFAS
No. 151 requires that allocation of fixed production overheads to the costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the
production facilities. The provisions of SFAS No. 151 are effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June
15,2005. The Company does not believe that the adoption of SFAS No. 151 will have a material impact on its results of operations or
financial condition.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment of APB Opinion No. 29”. SFAS No.
153 replaces the exception from fair value measurement included in APB Opinion No. 29 for nonmonetary exchanges of similar
productive assets with a general exception from fair value measurement for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have
commercial substance. A nonmonetary exchange has commercial substance if the future cash flows of the entity are expected to
change significantly as a result of the exchange. This Statement will be applied prospectively and is effective for nonmonetary asset
exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after June 18,2005, The Company does not believe adoption of this statement will have
a material impact on the Company's results of operations or financial condition.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) No. FAS 109-1, “Application of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for
Income Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the Act)”.
FSP No. FAS 109-1 clarifies that the tax deduction for manufacturers provided for in the Act should be accounted for as a special
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deduction rather than as a tax rate reduction. The manufacturers’ deduction is not available to the company until fiscal year 2006. The
company is evaluatmg the effect the manufacturers’ deduction will have in future fiscal years. ‘

In March 2008, FASB Interpretation No. (“FIN™) 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligatiods -an Interpretation of
SFAS No. 143", was issued. This Interpretation clarifies that the term “conditional asset retirement obligatio?”, as used in SFAS No.
143, “Accounting for|Asset Retirement Obligations”, refers to a legal obligation to perform an asset retirement activity in which the
timing and (or) methbd of settlement are conditional on a future event that may or may not be within the contirol of the entity.
Accordingly, an entity is required to recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obhga,tmn if the fair value of
the lisbility can be rdasonably estimated. This Interpretation is effective no later than the end of fiscal years endmg after December 15,
20058. Retrospective application for interim financial information is permitted but is not required. The Company has not determined
whether adoption of this Interpretation will have a material impact on the Company's results of operations or{ financial condition.

In May 2008, the FA$B issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections—a replacement of Ali’B Opinion No.20 and
FASB Statement No. 3”. This Statement replaces APB Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes”, and FASB Statement No. 3, “Reporting
Accounting Changes:in Interim Finaneial Statements”, and changes the requirements for the accounting for ai,nd reporting of a change
in accounting principle. SFAS No. 154 applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle. This Statement requires retrospective
application to prior pferiods‘ financial statements of changes in accounting principle, unless it is impracticablé to determine either the
period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change. It also requires that retrospective application ofia change in accounting
principle be limited to the direct effects of the change. Indirect effects of a change in accounting principle should be recognized in the
period of the accountmg change. This Statement is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years
beginning after December 15,2005. The Company does not believe that the adoption of SFAS No. 154 will ha,vé a material impact on its

results of operations or financial condition.

Reclassifications - Certain amounts included in the consolidated financial statements for prior years have been reclassified from their
original presentation to conform with the current year presentation.

NOTE 2 - INVENTORIES

Inventories include the following major classifications: October 31,
2005 2004
e 1) $ 11,791,963 $ 13,839,442
Melt SUPDIES « . oo ee e 4,173,109 4,216,074
BilletS ..o 15,282,590 12,226,288
Millsupplies .....cvvvtiiiii i 5,912,424 4, 8'40 o7l
Work-In-process . ... 13,112,126 14,5’68,837
Finishedsteel ....... ... . i 60,876,286 52,408,947
Total INVENEOTIES . . ..\ vvveeeeseeeeeeeeeeeeeennnn, $ 111,148,408 $ 102,009,659

|

[

NOTE3- PROPERTIES AND DEPRECIATION ‘

Depreciation expense for the years ended October 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 amounted to $14,150,145, $14,5’54,355 and $14,896,157,
respectively. Asset useful lives are from 30 to 40 years for buildings and land improvements, 10 to 15 years for manufacturing
machinery and equipment, up to 10 years for other property and equipment, and 3 years for software. Properjby additions included no
capitalized interest for 2005,2004 and 2003.
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NOTE 4 - INCOME TAXES
The Company files a consolidated federal income tax return.

The following is a reconciliation of income tax expense (benefit) before discontinued operations per the consolidated statements of
earnings (loss) to that computed by using the federal statutory tax rate of 35%:

Year Ended October 31,
2005 2004 2003

Federal tax at the statutoryrate ................ $ 23,072,473 $ 17,128,324 $ (1,480,087)
Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:

State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit .... 1,460,001 876,646 (159,570)

Executive compensation ..................... - 270,431 -

Otheritems, net ............ ... ...t 143,483 42,280 (67,290)
Income taxes per consolidated

statements of earnings 088) ................. $ 24,675,957 $ 18,317,681 $ (1,706,927)

The components of income tax expense (benefit) before discontinued operations are as follows:

Year Ended October 31,
R005 2004 2003
Current income taxes:
Federal ..... ... $ 25,779,352 $ 19,657,600 $ (15,113)
State ... 3,543,495 2,935,214 415,543
Total current incometaxes .................. 29,322,847 22,892,904 400,430
Deferred income taxes:
Federal ......... ... i (3,349,551) (3,482,627) (1,586,113)
State . ... (1,297,339) (79%,596) (851,244)
Total deferred incometaxes ................. (4,646,890) (4,2758,223) (2,107,387
Totalincometaxes .......ovvvveriiveinnnennn, $ 24,675,957 $ 18,317,681 $ (1,706,927)

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes. There are no valuation allowances. The deferred tax liabilities and
assets are as follows:

October 31,
2005 2004
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation . ......ovirie e $ 24,710,596 $ 28,152,620
Deferred tax assets:
Accrualsandallowances ...............ovivinn. 4,262,159 3,347,955
Accrued self-insurance eXpenses .............ovuu 2,032,065 2,884,111
Postretirementcosts ..., 761,153 904,896
InVentories ... 550,702 466,230
Executive compensation ................. .. oLl 721,875 303,418
0151 31,409 104,51R
Total deferred taxassets .............coooovin... 9,259,363 8,011,122
Net deferred taxliabilities ................oo i $ 15,451,233 $ 20,141,498

Realization of certain deferred assets is dependent upon generating sufficient taxable income in the appropriate jurisdiction. The
Company believes it is more likely than not the deferred net assets will be realized.
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NOTE 5 - LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt consis%ted of the following:
‘ QOctober 31,
; 2008 2004
Syndicated ﬁerm 1080 .o $ 24,000,000 $ 30,000,000
Revolving credit agreement . ....................... 11,043,144 54,762,012
TOAL . ..t 35,043,144 64,752,012
Less-current portion . .............oovvviiinnn.. 21,686,640 6,000,000
LONGHermMAEbl .. ..\t $ 13,456,504 $ 58,752,012

On October 4,2004, the Company entered into an $85,000,000, five-year credit arrangement with a group of banks. The credit facility
consists of a $50,00q,000 term loan and a $55,000,000 long-term revolving loan. The credit facility permits tlfle Company, upon
request, to increase the aggregate amount by an additional $10,000,000, and establishes two sub-facilities pursuant to which one of the
banks in the syndicate will issue letters of credit in the aggregate amount of up to $5,000,000 and will make svying—line loansinthe
aggregate amount of tip to $5,000,000, with any such amounts to be applied to and reduce the amount available for borrowing under the
revolving loan. : }

The loans bear interest at the Company's option at (i) one, two, three, six or, if available, nine or twelve month LEIBOR as selected by the
Company, or (ii) the greater of (A) the prime rate publicly announced from time to time by the loans administrative agent, or (B) the
effective federal funds rate quoted by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York plus 1/R of 1%. Under the term loe]m agreement and a
portion of the revolver, interest was payable at October 31,2005 and 2004, at the one-month LIBOR rate of 4.09% plus 8.00% and
1.87% plus 2.00%, respectively. Under the remainder of the revolver, interest was payable at October 31, 2005 and 2004, at the bank's
base rate option of 7.775% and 5.75%, respectively. The term loan requires quarterly payments of principal in t'%he amount of $1,500,000
plus interest, and the revolving loan requires quarterly payments of interest until the fifth anniversary of the icredit facility at which
time the outstanding principal balance of the revolving loan must be paid in full. The credit facility also requires quarterly payments of
unused commitment fees of 1/2 of 1% on unused balances of the revolver. These unused commitment fees may be withdrawn under
certain conditions such as default, and amounted to $117,154 and $7,510, for the years ended October 31, 20:05 and 2004, respectively,

and are included in interest expense in the respective consolidated statements of earnings. |

The loans are secured by a pledge of the outstanding stock in each of the Company’s direct and indirect subsid%ia,ries and by alien on the
tangible and intangible personal property of the Company and each of its subsidiaries. The Company may prepay the loans at any time at
its option,and is reqtflired to make mandatory prepayments based on certain circumstances. Since such circumstances existed at
October 31,2008, and during the year then ended, $15,586,640 of the long-term revolver has been classified i)n current portion of long-
term debt at October/31, 2005, and must be prepaid by January 31,2008, |

The loans are subject to various representations and warranties and affirmative and negative covenants, inclw}uding the Company’s
obligation to maintain a leverage ratio of less than or equal to 3:1, to maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio grgater than or equal to
1.10:1,and to limit capital expenditures on a consolidated basis to no more than $75,000,000 over the term o:f the credit facility. The
Company was in compliance with the covenants of its loan agreements as of October 31,2005 and 2004.

Annual aggregate lorjlg-term debt maturities are approximately $21,586,640 for 2006, $6,000,000 for each of 2007 and 2008, and
$1,456,504 for 2009.

On QOctober 4,2004, tj:he Company’s previous syndicated term loan was repald with proceeds from the new crehit arrangement. In
connection with the extinguishment, the Company wrote off remaining, unamortized deferred financing costs of $375,624, which is
included in interest expense for the year ended October 31,2004 in the consolidated statements of earnings.
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NOTE 6 - DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

Historically, the Company utilized interest rate swaps to manage its exposure to movements in interest rates paid on corporate debt and
that qualified as cash flow hedges. On June 25, 1999, the Company entered into a reverse swap, converting $40,000,000 of existing
term debt to a variable interest rate from a fixed rate. A fee of $1,300,000 was received and being recorded in income ratable over the 6
1/2 years which remained to maturity of the term loan.

Effective November 1,2000, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133 and, in accordance with the transition provisions, recorded a
cumulative effect adjustment of $1,663,516 in other comprehensive income to recognize the fair value of the swap as a cash flow
hedging instrument. On April 1,008, the Company effected an early termination, or unwind, of its interest rate swap agreement and
incurred a $3,000,179 termination fee payable to the counterparty over the term of the existing debt.

In connection with the Company's debt refinancing on October 4,2004, the remaining unamortized fee earned, $200,000,and
unrecognized amounts included in other comprehensive loss related to these past hedges, $680,491 ($408,295 net of taxes), were
recorded as adjustments to interest expense in the statement of earnings.

During fiscal years 2005,2004 and 2003, the Company entered into derivative commodity instruments of one-year or less to minimize the
exposure of price risk related to certain natural gas purchases used in the manufacturing process at its West Virdinia facility. The contracts
are used to mitigate the price risk related to natural gas purchases and are designated as effective cash flow hedges for a portion of the
natural gas usage over the periods in the agreements. Unrealized gains and losses associated with marking the contracts to market are
recorded as a component of other comprehensive income (loss) and included in the stockholders' equity section of the balance sheet as part
of accumulated comprehensive income (loss). These gains and losses are recognized in earnings in the month in which the related natural
gas is used, or in the month a hedge is determined to be ineffective. There were no ineffective hedges at October 31,2005.
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The components of other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows: }
|

|
Year Ended Qetober 31,

: 2005 2004
* Tax Tax
! Before-Tax (Expense) Net-of-Tax Before-Tax (E}gpense) Net-of-Tax
1 Amount Benefit Amount Amount Benefit Amount
Unrealized gains (lossés) on
securitiss: f
Unrealized holding gains
(losses) arising diiring
period ......... leenns $ (66,446) § 24,835 $ (41,611) § (6,677) § 10,834 $ (15,843)
Reclassification
adjustments for gfa.ins
(losses) realized 1p
netincome ... .. e - - - (17,233) | 6,999 (10,234)
Net unrealized gains (losses) (66,446) 24,835 (41,611) (43,910) 17,833 (26,077)
Unrealized losses on qualifying
cash flow hedges:
Unrealized gains (losses)
arising during period .. (305,338) 114,123 (191,213) 196,749 (84,078) 112,673
Reclassification a,dj;ustments
for gains (losses) realized
innetincome ........ 96,273 (35,983) 60,290 220,902 J(94,597) 126,505
Net unrealized gains (losses) (209,083) 78,140 (130,923) 417,651 6178,475) 239,178
Accretion of past ‘ E
hedging relationships .... - - - 1,327,219 (530,455) 797,464
Other comprehensive . ‘
income (loss) ...... A $  (Q75,508) 102,975 $ (172,834) $ 1,701,660 $ (691,095) $ 1,010,565
l
|
The components of accumulated other comprehensive income are as follows: October }3 1
2005 2004
Unrealized gains on securities, net 0ftaxes 0f $27,741 ...\ttt ettt - 8 41611
Unrealized gaing (lossejs) on qualifying cash flow hedges, net of taxes of $59,820 and $147,102 ... $ 89,730 220,653
Accumulated other comprehensive INGOME . .........ovviiiiiiii e $ 89,730 $| 262,264

NOTE 7 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At October 31,2005, the Company was committed to approximately $3,500,000 for purchases of equipment and production facilities.
Partial settlements have been received in conjunction with a class action suit for antitrust litigation against the Company’s graphite

|

electrode supplies. No/further payments are expected under this settlement. The Company is not involved in any legal proceedings or
environmental matters outside the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, amounts accrued for potential awards or
assessments in connection with these matters at this time are adequate, and the outeome of such environmental and legal concerns
currently pending will not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. The

Company reassesses these matters as new facts and cases are brought to management’s attention. \

! |
|
|
|
1
i

NOTE 8 - COMMOI\’% STOCK AND EARNINGS PER SHARE ‘

Basic earnings per shhre is computed by dividing the net income available to common stockholders by the weigﬂted average shares of
outstanding common stock. The calculation of diluted earnings per share is similar to basic earnings per share except that the
denominator includes dilutive common stock equivalents such as stock options and performance grants. Earnings per share calculations

|

do not include treasury shares, which are shares held by subsidiaries. Basic earnings (loss) per share have been computed based on the

]

weighted average nunjber of shares outstanding of 11,118,490 for 2005, 10,957,586 for 2004 and 10,938,999 1for 2003.The average

|
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2003

Tax
Before-Tax (Expense) Net-of-Tax
Amount Benefit Amount

$ 200,142  $ 80,273) ¢ 119,869

(86,811) 34,630 (8%,181)
113,331 (45,643) 67,688
(3R,867) 14,042 (18,525)
(32,567) 14,042 (18,5258)
848,163 (338,744 ) 510,419

$ 929,027 $ (870,348) & 559,882

number of shares outstanding was weighted after giving effect to stock options exercised, performance and restricted shares awarded,
and/or repurchased cormnmon stock during 2005, 2004, and 2003. Diluted earnings (loss) per share have been computed based on the
weighted average number of shares outstanding (including outstanding and exercisable stock options) of 11,243,655 for 20085,
11,034,445 for 2004 and 10,945,346 for 2003. No options were antidilutive at October 31,2008. Options to purchase 107,000
and 323,000 shares of common stock were outstanding at October 31,2004 and 2003, respectively, but were not included in the
computation of diluted earnings (loss) per share because the effect would be antidilutive. Performance grants for 172,872 shares of
common stock were outstanding at October 31,2005, but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the
effect would be antidilutive,

NOTE 9 - PROFIT SHARING PLANS

The Company, including Shredded Products Corporation, Socar, Inc. and Steel of West Virginia, Inc. (“SWVA”), has qualified profit sharing plans
which cover substantially all employees. John W. Hancock, Jr.,, Inc. has an unqualified plan. Socar, Inc’s annual contribution is discretionary
while the other plans’, except SWVA, annual contribution cannot exceed 20% of their combined earnings before income taxes, SWVA’'s annual
contribution cannot exceed 17% of its pretax profit for bargaining unit employees, with comparable amounts contributed ratably to the
nonbargaining group. Total retirement contributions of all Companies shall not exceed the maximum amount deductible for such year under
the Internal Revenue Code and amounted t0 $ 10,652,245 for 2005, $9,622,733 for 2004, and $1,309,091 for 2003.

NOTE 10 - STOCK OPTIONS

Under a nonqualified stock option plan which expired during 2004, the Company could issue 112,500 shares of unissued common stock
to employees of the Company each plan year. Under a non-statutory stock option plan which expired during 2004, the Company could
issue 25,000 shares of unissued common stock to directors of the Company over the life of the plan. No stock options were granted in
2005. There were 118,500 stock options granted in 2004 and in 2003.
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These options are exercisable for a term of 8 years for employees and 10 years for directors from the date of grant, and a summary follows:
‘ Weighted Average
Exercise Price

; Per Share _ Shares
Balance, November 1,002 ...........vvivnnnn.s, $ 13.18 443,300
Granted . R R RRRRrEE 8.44 112,500
Exercised ...t - -
Expired orterminated .............. ...l 14.19 _(126,300)
Ba,lance,Oc&:ober BLLA0D3 ... 11.62 429,500
Granted .i...o.ii 10.36 112,500
EXErCISed ..o oottt 9.81 (83,000)
Expired or terminated ............ .o 13.78 (92,500)

|

Balance, October 31,8004 ......................... 11.14 366,500
Granbed . ... e - -
EXEPCISEA oot ettt 13.23 (1R3,500)
Expiredorterminated ................iiiiiiii, 10.80 _1(6,000)
Balance, 0ctober 81,2005 ........oviviiiniiniln 10.08 237,000
Shares av&i!lable forgrantatyearend ............... 0

|
|

Asg discussed in Note 1, effective November 1,2004, the Company applies the provisions of SFAS No.123R in a,cfcounting forthe
nonqualified stock option plans. Prior to November 1,2004, the Company applied APB No. 25, and compensatidn cost of $205,875 and
$167,625 for the years ended October 31,2004 and 2003, respectively, was recognized for the difference between the exercise price

and the fair value of the stock price at the grant date. }

The fair value of options granted during the years ended October 31,2004 and 2003 was $4.18 and $5.53, respectlvely The total
intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended October 31,2005, 2004 and 2003 was $771,848, $37’? 550 and $0,
respectively. The tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from these exercises was $288,671,$141,204 and $0 for the years ended
October 31,2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The following table summarizes information about stock optlons outstanding and
exercisable at October 31,2008: l

|
Number Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Outstanding and Contractual Life Intrinsic

Prices Exercisable inYears Vzilue

$ 844 54,500 2.09 $ 754 115
9.61 70,600 0.25 86’7 150
10.36 92,500 3.25 1, 068 378
10.50 7,500 1.33 85 575
17.50 13,000 2.25 52,920
R37,000 $ 2,808,138

\

|
A summary of the status of the Company’s performance shares (see Note 1) as of October 31,2005, and changes during the year then
ended, is presented below. l

Grant Date

Fair}Value
3 Shares Perishare
Nonvested at November 1,2004 .................. . -
Granted .. ... 172,872 $ 19.75
VESted ... eeee (31,113) 19.78
Forfeited ........oovuiriiii - :
Nonvested af October 31,2008 ..................... 141,789




NOTE 11 - HEALTH BENEFITS AND POSTRETIREMENT COSTS

Prior to July 1,2003,the Company provided certain health care benefits for terminated employees who have completed 10 years of
continuous service after age 45. On July 1,2003 the Company amended the policy to discontinue coverage of employees that were not
already qualified at the time. Those qualified were employees who were age 55 or more and had 10 years of service on July 1,2003.

SFAS No. 132 (Revised 2003), "Employers' Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits", requires disclosures about
the assets, obligations, cash flows and net periodic benefit cost of defined benefit postretirement plans. The Company adopted the
disclosure requirements of this statement at October 31,2004.

Required disclosures under SFAS No. 132R as of, and for the years ended October 31, are as follows:

2005 2004 2003
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year . ..., $ 1,612,643 $1,720,021 $2,979,320
Servicecost ....... ... ... . - - 179,032
Interestcost ... ... ... .. .. ..., 88,418 104,212 167,882
Expected participant contributions ....... 53,576 71,938 96,073
Expected benefitspaid ................. (337,624) (3R8,297) (216,947)
Plan amendments ..................... - - (1,355,485)
Actuarial (gain)/loss .. ................. 107,637 44,769 (129,854)
Benefit obligation at end of year .......... $ 1,624,650 $1,612,643 $1,720,021
Change in plan assets:
Employer contribution . ...................... $ 184,048 $ 256,359 $ 120874
Participant contributions .................... 53,576 71,938 96,073
Benefitspald ............ .. ool (237,624) (328,297) (216,947)
Fair value of plan agsets atend of ysar.......... $ - $ - $ -
Fundedstatus .....oovvirtvii i $ (1,624,650) $(1,612,643) $ (1,720,021)
Unrecognized prior servicecost ................ (348,125) (470,422) (898,719)
Unrecognized net actuarialgain ................ (78,392) (197,710) (R65,972)
Accrued benefitcost . ... $ (8,045,167) $(2,280,775) $(2,584,71R)

Accrued benefit cost account:
Accrued benefit cost at beginning of year .......

$ (1,624,650)

$(1,612,643)

$ (1,720,021)

ANnualexpense ............ it (348,185) (470,422) (598,719)

Netbenefitpayments ........................ (78,392) (197,710) (R65,972)
Accrued benefit cost at end of year

(perbalancesheet) .................covint. $ (2,045,167 $(2,280,775) $ (2,584,712)
Weighted average discount rate assumption ...... 8.50% 5.75% 6.25%
Components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost:

Service cost . .. .. - - $ 179,032

Interestcost ........... ... ... ... ..., $ 88,418 $ 104,212 167,882

Amortizationofgain .......... ... . ..., (11,681) (23,493) -

Amortization of prior servicecost ........ (128,297) (128,297) (42,766)

Amortization of transition obligation ...... - - 46,000
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost . .. . . $ (51,560) $ (47,578) $ 350,148
Expected net benefit payments

(upcoming fiscalyear) .................. $ 170,935 $ 149,885 $ 105,271
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The following table Péﬂects total expected cash benefit payments (net of retiree contributions):

Bstimated
Year ended Benefit

October &1, Payments
2008 $ 170,935
2007 198 082
; 2008 2115 109
‘ 2009 2‘45 637
2010 282,470
2011-2015 054,245

The assumed health eare cost trend rate used in measuring the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at October 31,2005 was
11.0% for 2005, decf’easing by one-percentage-point per year until it reaches 5.0% in 201 1. A one-percentage:point increase in the
assumed health careicost trend rate for each year would increase the October 31,2005 accumulated postretirement benefit obligation
by $60,161 and the aggregate service and interest cost by $4,519.
|
NOTE 12 - GOODMLL
At fiscal year-end October 31,2001, the Company had goodwill of $13,868,647, net of accumulated amortization of $2,328,313. The
Company early adopt;ed SFAS No. 142 on November 1,2001 and, subsequently, discontinued goodwill amort1za,t10n Based on the
Company’s current reportmg structure, it has determined that it operates as three reporting units and, therefore has assigned goodwill
at the operating division level. On an ongoing basis, the Company performs annual goodwill impairment testln]g as of May 31.The
Company performed! annual goodwill impairment testing in each of 2003, 2004 and 3008, which indicated that the Company’s goodwill
was not impaired. At least quarterly, the Company analyzes whether an event has occurred that more likely than not will reduce the
reporting unit's fair value below its carrying amount and, if necessary, a goodwill impairment test will be perfbrmed between the annual
dates. Impairment adjustments recognized after adoption, if any, will be recognized as operating expenses.

NOTE 13 - SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

| Year Ended October 31,
2008 2004 2003
Cash paid dhring the year for:
Interest ... $ 3,354,316 $ 3,059,443 $ | 5,266,028
Income tenfxes (net of cashreceived) ............ $ 29,804,778 $ 11,706,806 $ | (3,791,376)

NOTE 14 - DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN |

The Company maintdins a nonqualified deferred compensation plan (the “Executive Deferred Compensation Plan”). The purpose of the
Executive Deferred Compensation Plan is to provide to certain eligible employees of the Company the opportujnity to: (1) defer elements
of their compensation (including any investment income thereon) which might not otherwise be deferrable under the current plans;
and (2) receive the benefit of additions to their deferral comparable to those obtainable under the current pla,r;ls inthe absence of
certain restrictions and limitations in the Internal Revenue Code. Amounts deferred are paid into a trust owned by the Company and
are included in otherassets. The Company's liability and trust asset under the Executive Deferred Compensation Plan as of October 31,
2005 and 2004 was $540,778 and $614,382, respectively, and are included in other assets and other liabilitie]*s onthe accompaning

consolidated balance shests.

NOTE15- ENTER:’PRISE-WIDE INFORMATION

The Company’s businiess consists of one industry segment, which is the extracting of scrap metal from discarded automobiles and the
manufacturing, fabricating and marketing of merchant steel bar products and specialty steel sections, open-web steel joists and billets.
The industry seg‘men‘t consists of three classes of products - merchant steel products and specialty steel sections, fabricated bar joists
and billets. Due to the January 27,2005 sale of RESCO Steel Products Corporation, a wholly-owned remforcmg bar subsidiary, rebar
sales have been excluded from the fabricated products class.

1
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Financial Information Relating to Classes of Products

2005 2004 2003
Sales to unaffiliated customers:
Merchant steel and specialty steel sections .. ... $ 386,780,959 $ 343,604,922 $ 211,209,483
Fabricated barjoists .................. ... ... 115,731,062 96,969,128 66,927,348
BilletS . e 44,099,242 26,018,379 25,432,380
Total consolidatedsales ....................... $ 546,618,163 $ 465,586,429 $ 303,560,211

Information relating to geographic areas indicates that significantly all of the consolidated sales are domestic, as foreign revenues are

not material. Additionally,the company has no foreign assets.

NOTE 16 - ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”, requires that the discounted fair value of a liability for an asset
retirement obligation be recognized in the period in which it is incurred if & reasonable estimate of the fair value can be made. The

associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset.

Application of the statement encompasses an industrial landfill located on the site of the Company’s subsidiary, Shredded Products

Corporation, which will operate for approximately thirty-three more years before closing.

On November 1,2002, the date of adoption, an asset retirement obligation for landfill closure and post closure costs of $433,902 was
recorded, compared to the associated long-lived asset, net of accurnulated depreciation of $205,492. This resulted in a cumulative effect
of adopting this statement of $228,410. The effect of this statement had it been applied during prior years would not have been material

to the amounts presented or to the reported earnings per share.

At October 31,2005 and 2004, the asset retirement obligation totaled $534,969 and $498,9083, respectively, and is included in other

non-current liabilities. Aceretion expense was $36,066 in 2005 and $33,634 in 2004.

NOTE 17 - LEASES

The Company has non-cancelable operating leases for trucks and trailers used in hauling products and supplies, various manufacturing and
office equipment, land used for storage and access purposes, and buildings used both as office and plant facilities and for product and supplies
storage. Rental expense under operating leases was $1,897,645,$2,063,318,and $1,767,433 in 2005,2004 and 2003, respectively.

The Company has a capital lease for land, with a carrying value of $234,557, used in the manufacturing process. The liability associated

with the capital lease amounted to $189,350 and $208,948 at October 31,2005 and 2004, respectively.

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating and capital leases as of October 31,2005 are as follows:

Operating
Leases

006 .. e $ 1837951 $
00 1,240,130
008 ... e 1,061,018
R00D . 959,673
ROL0 . 541,088
Thereafter ..........co -
Total minimum 1ease payments . .....o.vvrireenannns $ 5,639,860
Less amounts representinginterest .................
Present value of net minimum lease payments ........
Less current portion under capitallease .............
Long-term obligation under capitallease ............. $

31

Capital

Leases
30,000
30,000
30,000
30,000
30,000

80,000

230,000

40,650

189,350
20,641

$ 168,709




NOTE 18- UNAUI?ITED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
Summarized unaud;ted quarterly financial data for 2005 follows:

Three Months Ended
January &1 April 30 July 31 October 31
Sales ‘ .................. $131,309,983 $ 137,868,454 $ 136,398,926 $1141,034,800
Grossearnings.............. $ 25,738,135 $ 20,358,722 $ 19,119,887 $| 37,289,206
Net ea,rninfgs ................ $ 8,037,554 $ 6,582,181 $ 7311280 $| 17,488,418
Net earniﬂgs per share:
Basio..i...oiiiiiais $ 0.81 $ 0.59 $ 0.66 $ 1.87
Dilued /... $ 080 $ 058 § 065  §] 1.55
Summarized unaudited quarterly financial data for 8004 follows:
; Three Months Ended
j January 31 April 30 July 31 October 31
Sales R PRI $ 85,173,685 $ 116,012,871 $ 125,262,181 $1139,137,602
Gross earnings.............. $ 7862801 § 16,744,115 $ 22,130,071  §| 35,109,427
Netearnings................ $ 1,533,676 $ 5,222,086 $ 7,757,545 $| 15,932,971
Net earnidgs per share:
Basic.....oovvviiii $ 0.14 $ 0.48 $ 0.71 $ 1.45
Diluted ...........oou.il. $ 014 § 047 § 070  § 1.44

NOTE 19 - DEFINITIVE AGREEMENT OF MERGER

On Octeber 18,2008, Roanoke Electric Steel Corporation (“Roanoke™) and Steel Dynamics, Ine. (“SDI”) announced the execution of a
definitive agreement of merger (the “Merger Agreement”) pursuant to which SDI will acquire Roanoke and all of its subsidiaries.
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, which has been unanimously approved by the Roanoke Board of Director%, Roanoke stockholders
will receive a fixed consideration equal to 0.4 shares of SDI common stock and $9.75 in cash for each share of Roanoke common stock
outstanding at the éffective time of the merger. Completion of the merger is subject to approval by Roanoke's stockholders, regulatory
approval,including antitrust approval, and the satisfaction or waiver of customary conditions. The Merger A:greement contains certain
termination rights for both parties and further provides for a termination fee to SDI of $7.5 million plus expenses if the transaction is
terminated under cértain circumstances.

32



The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Roanoke Electric Steel Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Roanoke Electric Steel Corporation (the Company), as of October 31,
2008, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive earnings, and cash flows for the
year then ended. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects the financial position of
Roanoke Electric Steel Corporation as of October 31, 2008, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then
ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, effective November 1,2004, the Company changed its method of
accounting and reporting for share-based payments.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of October 31,2005, based on criteria established in Internal
Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (C080),and our
report dated January 11,2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of,
internal control over financial reporting.

ICPMG LrP

Roanoke,Virginia
dJanuary 11,2006
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Report Of Independent Registered Pubic Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Roanoke Electric Steel Corporation
Roanoke, Virginia

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Roanoke Electric Steel Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company™)
as of October 31,2004, and the related consolidated statements of earnings (loss), stockholders’ equity and cbmprehensive earnings
(loss), and of cash flows for the years ended October 31,2004 and 2003. These financial statements are the résponsibility of the
Company's managexﬁent. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on oiur audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (U:nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the ﬁna,r';cia,l statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disf,closures inthe financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made b’y management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basislfor our opinion.

In our opinion, such éonsolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial po%ition of Roanoke Electric
Steel Corporation and subsidiaries as of October 31,2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years ended
October 31,2004 and 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Notei 16 to the consolidated financial statements, effective November 1, 2002, the Company chianged its method for
accounting for asset|retirement obligations in aceordance with Statement of Financial Acecounting Standards No. 143, Acecounting for

Asset Retirement Obligations.

DM)&TM LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
December 8,2004, except for Note 1 —Discontinued Operations,
as to which the date is January 11,2006
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Management has responsibility for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over fingneial reporting. Internal control
over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of consolidated financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Management has assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of October 31,2005, In
making its assessment, Management has utilized the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (COSO) of the
Treadway Commission in Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Management concluded that based on its assessment, Roanoke
Electric Steel Corporation's internal control over financial reporting was effective as of October 31,2005. Management's assessment
of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of October 31,2005 has been audited by KPMG LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which appears in this Annual Report to Stockholders.

Aawt v

Donald G. Smith

Chairman and Chief Bxecutive Officer

y

Mark G. Meikle

Vice President-Finance and Chief Financial Officer
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Report Of Independent Registered Public AccountingFirm

|
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Roanoke Electric Steel Corporation:

3 \
We have audited mar‘ia,gement’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on InternaliControl over Financial
Reporting, that Roaxioke Electric Steel Corporation (the Company) maintained effective internal control overfinancial reporting as of
October 31,2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Conflmittee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the|Treadway Commission (COS0). The Company’s management is responsible for maintainﬂng sffective internal
control over financiaf,l reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial Ié’eporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of th;e Company'’s internal
control over ﬁnancia‘?l reporting based on our audit. {

We conducted our audit in aceordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board ’(United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable agsurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting mias maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding ofi)interna.l control over
financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We belisve t%lat our audit providesa

reasonable basis for our opinion. |

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance I’?egarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with gene’rally accepted accounting
prineiples. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertainto the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositidns of the assets of the
company; (R) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with génerally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the compahy are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 8SSUrANCe regarding
prevention or timely getection of unguthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect

on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over ﬁnancllal reporting as of October
31,2008, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Spohsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commigsion (COSQ). Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of October 31,2005, based on criteria %stablished in Internal
Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commi‘ssion (C0S0).

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (Urlgited States), the
consolidated balance sheet of Roanoke Electric Steel Corporation as of October 31,2005, and the related consolidated statements of
earnings, stockholders' equity and comprehensive earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended, and our report dated January 11,
2006, expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. Our report referstoa chan]ge in the method of
accounting and reporting for share-based payments.

KPMG LCP

Roanoke, Virginia
January 11,2006
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'Management'’s Discussion And Analysis

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

From time to time, the Company may publish forward-looking
statements relating to such matters as anticipated financial
performance, business prospects, technological developments,
new products, research and development activities and similar
matters. The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995
provides a safe harbor for forward-looking statements. In order
to comply with the terms of the safe harbor, the Company notes
that a variety of factors could cause the Company's actual
results and experience to differ materially from the anticipated
results or other expectations expressed in the Company’s
forward-looking statements. The risks and uncertainties that
may affect the operations, performance, development and
results of the Company’s business include economic and
industry conditions, availability and prices of utilities, supplies
and raw materials, prices of steel products, foreign and
domestic competition, foreign trade policies affecting imports
and exports, governmental regulations, interest rates,
inflation, labor relations, environmental concerns and
compliance issues, the Company's safety performance, the
cyclical nature of the domestic steel industry, and others.

OVERVIEW

During our 2005 and 004 fiscal years, the Company reported
net earnings of $40,319,433 and $30,446,248, respectively.
The steel industry as a whole hag experienced two consecutive
very robust years in terms of earnings. The Company was able
to Increase its profit margins in a period of rapidly rising costs
and pricing environment, as discussed more fully below.

The Company is a domestic steel manufacturing company. The
Company, directly and through its subsidiaries, is engaged in
the manufacturing, fabricating and marketing of merchant
steel products, specialty steel sections, billets and open-web
steel joists. Bach subsidiary is either a supplier to the parent
company or g purchaser of its finished product and billets. The
Company sells products through its sales force to its
customers, which include service centers, original equipment
manufacturers, and fabricators.

Roanoke Electric Steel Corporation, the parent company, is a
state-of-the-art steel mini-mill located in Roanoke, Virginia. This
facility melts scrap steel in electric furnaces and continuously
casts the molten steel into billets. These billets are rolled into
merchant steel products consisting of angles, plain rounds, flats
and channels of various lengths and sizes. Excess steel billet
production is sold to mills without sufficient melting capacities or
facilities. Roanoke Electric Steel Corporation markets its
products to steel service centers and fabricators. Steel of West

Virdinia, Inc., through its subsidiary, SWVA, Inc., is a steel mini-
mill and steel fabricating facility operating in Huntington, West
Virginia. A steel fabricating subsidiary, Marshall Steel, Inc., is
located in Memphis, Tennessee. These locations produce or
fabricate specialty steel sections and custom-finished products
and serve niche markets. Shredded Products Corporation, a
subsidiary with operations in Rocky Mount and Montvale,
Virginia, extracts scrap steel and other metals from junked
automobiles and other waste materials. These facilities supply the
parent company with a substantial amount of its raw materials.
Nonferrous metals generated in the process are sold to unrelated
customers. John W. Hancock, Jr., Inc. and Socar, Inc. are steel
fabrication subsidiaries located in Salem, Virginia, Florence, South
Carolina and Continental, Ohio. All three operations purchase
rounds and angles from the parent company to fabricate steel
joists and joist girders. These joists and joist girders are used as
horizontal supports for floors and roofs in commercial and
industrial buildings. The Hancock facility also manufactures
structural pallet rack and structural cantilever rack. This rack is
used for heavy storage in retail, warehouses and distribution
centers. RESCO Steel Products Corporation, a Salem, Virginia
based subsidiary, fabricated concrete reinforcing steel by cutting
and bending it to contractor specifications, until its sale on
January 27,2005 (see Note 1 - Discontinued Operations).

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND STEEL INDUSTRY TRENDS
AFFECTING OPERATING RESULTS

The Company’s sales are predominantly affected by the volume
of products shipped to customers, the corresponding mix of
products shipped and the associated sales prices of each product.
These factors can be significantly impacted by general economic
conditions, industry trends and competitive pressures. The
Company has limited pricing power, and in general, prices will
rise or fall based on market forces. The cost of the Company’s
main raw material, scrap steel, is also based on market forces.

All direct and indirect manufacturing costs relating to production
are included in cost of sales. The principle elements of cost of
sales are raw materials, labor and benefits (including profit
sharing for production employees), and energy. The primary
components of raw materials inciude scrap and other additives,
the costs of which are demand driven, and can be affected by
available supply and inflationary pressures. The steel industry
initiated a number of serap surcharges and base-price increases
during the past year due to the increased cost of scrap steel. Labor
and benefit costs are influenced mainly by production and
shipment levels. Profit sharing expenses are related to the
Company's various plans’ contributions which represent a
percentage of earnings or IRS limitations. Enerdy costs are
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associated with theiCompany’s utilization of both electricity and
natural gas as its power sources, with electric arc furnaces using
electricity and withireheat furnaces using natural gas. The arc
furnaces are used in the actual melting of serap steel (to produce
billets), while the reheat furnaces are used to reheat the billets
which are then rolled into a finished product. The availability of
this power supply ar{1d the peak demands by the Company
determine energy plj’icing.

INCOME STATEB&ENT CLASSIFICATIONS

Sales ‘

The Company’s saléfs are & factor of net tons shipped, product
mix and related pricing. Sales are determined by subtracting
product returns, sales discounts, return allowances and claims
from total sales.

Cost of Sales

The Company’s cost{ of sales represent all production related
direct and indirect costs associated with the manufacture of our
products. The princibal elements of these costs are steel scrap,

|
alloys, electrodes, labor and beneﬁts{ (including profit sharing

for production employees), energy, d;epreciation, and freight.

Other Operating Expenses (Income)

The Company’s other operating expe%nses are composed of four
main areas. Administrative expenses consist of costs agsociated
with our sales, finance and accountirllg, and administrative
departments. These costs include lapor and benefits,
professional services, certain insura@nce expenses and various
property taxes. Interest expense coﬂsists of interest and
financing cost amortization associated with our credit facilities
as described in the notes to our conslolidated financial
statements contained elsewhere in this report. Profit sharing
expenses are related to the Compa,nyé's various plans’
contributions, for administrative embloyees, which represent a
percentage of earnings or IRS limita,tgions. Other income includes
interest income and antitrust litigation settlements which are
due to partial settlements received 1n conjunction with a class
action suit for antitrust violations aéainst the Company's
graphite electrode suppliers. 1‘

1
\

|
The following table sets forth amounts from our consclidated statements of earnings along with the dollar and percentage change for

fiscal 8005 comparéd to fiscal 2004:

I

2005 2004 $ Inc (Dec) |% Inc (Dec)
SALES ... i $546,612,163  $ 465,586,429  $ 81,025,734 | 17.4%
cosTS
Costofsales ................ 435,660,134 376,017,112 59,643,022 15.9%
Profit sharing .............. 8,446,079 7,732,903 713,176 9.2%
Total ..o 444,106,213 383,750,015 60,356,198 15.7%
GROSSEARNINGS ............ 102,505,950 81,836,414 20,669,536 | 25.3%
‘ |
OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
(INCOME)
Administrative ............. 31,526,927 30,026,395 1,500,532 5.0%
Interestexpense ............ 3,412,641 4,480,198 (1,087,554) (R3.8%)
Profitsharing .............. 1,958,434 1,661,270 297,164 17.9%
Interestingome ............. (2815,501) (207,694) (7,807) (3.8%)
Antitrust litigation settlement (97,902) (3,061,820) 2,963,918 96.8%
TOtal .o 36,584,599 32,808,346 3,686,253 11.2%
EARNINGS FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME
TAXES ..0veviiviennnn.. 65,921,351 48,938,068 16,983,283 34.7%
INCOME TAX EXPENSE ....... 24,675,957 18,317,681 6,358,276 34.7%
EARNINGS FROM CONTINUING |
OPERATIONS ............... 41,245,394 30,620,387 10,625,007 34.7%
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS:
L0SS ON DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
BEFORE INCOME TAXES
(INCLUDING LOSS ON SALE) (1,518,283) (271,974) (1,246,289) (458.2%)
INCOME TAX BENEFIT ....... (592,302) (97,835) (494,487) (505.4%)
L0SS ON DISCONTINUED
OPERATIONS ............. (925,961) (174,139) (751,822) (431.7%)
NETEARNINGS ............. $ 40,310,433 $ 30,446,248 § 0,873,185 32.4%
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The following table sets forth amounts from our consolidated statements of earnings (loss) along with the dollar and percentage change

for fiscal 2004 compared to fiscal 003:

2004 2003 $ Inc (Dec) % Inc (Dec)
SALES ... $465,686,429 $ 303,569,211 $ 162,017,218 83.4%
COSTS
Costofsales ................ 376,017,112 280,304,764 08,718,348 34.1%
Profit sharing .............. 7,732,903 1,058,174 6,674,729 630.8%
Total ...l 383,750,015 281,362,938 108,387,077 36.4%
GROSSEARNINGS ............ 81,836,414 22,206,273 89,630,141 268.5%
OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
(ANGOME) .................
Administrative ............. 30,026,395 21,735,236 8,291,169 38.1%
Interest expense ............ 4,480,195 5,435,464 (955,269) (17.6%)
Profitsharing .............. 1,661,270 218,862 1,442,408 659.0%
Interestincome ............. (R07,694) (433,558) 225,864 52.1%
Antitrust litigation settlement (3,081,820) (820,960) (2,540,860) (487.7%)
Total ..o 32,808,346 26,435,034 6,463,312 24.4%
EARNINGS (L0OSS) FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE
INCOME TAXES AND CUMULATIVE
EFFECT OF CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE ..... 48,038,068 (4,228,761) 83,166,829 1,287.3%
INCOME TAX EXPENSE
(BENEFIT) .......cvvvnn . 18,317,681 (1,708,927) 20,024,608 1,173.1%
EARNINGS (LOSS) FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE
CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE
IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE .. 30,620,387 (8,581,834) 33,142,221 1,314.2%
CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE ..... - (R28,410) 228,410 100.0%
EARNINGS (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING
QPERATIONS ............... 30,620,387 (2,780,244) 33,370,831 1,213.4%
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS:
LOSS ON DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
BEFORE INCOME TAXES ..... (R71,974) (756,458) 484,484 64.0%
INCOME TAX BENEFIT ....... (97,835) (281,749) 183,914 65.3%
LOSS ON DISCONTINUED
OPERATIONS ............. (174,139) (474,709) 300,870 63.3%
NET EARNINGS (L0SS) ....... $ 30,448,248 $ (3,224,933 $ 33,671,201 1,044.1%
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS reducing the tons available for shipment to outside customers.

Sales

Salesincreased 53.4% in 2004 to $465,588,429 compared to
$303,569,211 in 2003. Average price per ton for merchant bar
products, specialty steel sections, fabricated products and
billets increased 49.8%, 25.2%, 28.6% and 48.1%, respectively,
due to both product mix and higher selling prices. The volatile
scrap market prompted industry-wide price increases due to the
rising cost of scrap steel. Tons shipped of merchant bar
products, specialty products and fabricated products increased
15.3%,21.4% and 15.6%, respectively. Billet shipments
declined due to a greater demand for internal consumption, thus

The momentum obtained in 8004 continued in 2005. Sales for
2005 increased 17.4% to $546,618,163 compared to
$465,586,429 in 2004, mainly, due to improved average selling
prices for merchant products, specialty products, fabricated
products and billets of 12.6%, 18.4%, 34.0% and 11.7%,
respectively. The improvement in average selling prices was
principally due, again, to rising scrap steel costs, which kept
prices for all product classes higher for the year, although bar
product and billet prices began to trend Jower near year-end.
Tons shipped of billets increased 51.8%, while bar and
fabricated produet shipments dropped by 3.4% and 14.0%,
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respectively, as spebia,lty products shipment levels were flat.
The higher billet selling prices were triggered by increased
scrap prices, while improved demand and lower excess billet
availability in the market resulted in the higher billet
shipments. Improved product mix and favorable competitive
conditions, within several market segments, brought higher
average selling pricés for specialty steel sections. An
improvement in demand within several market segments offset
a softening in demand within another single segment, resulting
in flat shipment levels for the comparable years. The higher
merchant produet selling prices were directly related to the
increased scrap cosﬁs of 5.2%. More cautious buying patterns
and excess inventory levels at steel service centers caused
temporary reductions in tons shipped of bar products, although
market conditions continued to be strong. The improved
fabricated product selling prices were influenced mainly by
higher raw material costs, while shipment levels of fabricated
products declined, pfimarﬂy due to reduced activity and
increased competitive conditions within the nonresidential
construction segment.

Cost of Sales and Gross Margins

Cost of sales increased by 36.4% in 2004, mainly, as a result of
the increased bar, spécialty and fabricated product tons

shipped, together with the higher scrap steel costs of 72.6% and
a.630.8% increase in profit sharing costs (see the discussion on
profit sharing plans below), even though billet shipments
declined. Cost of sales increased by 18.7% in 20085, primarily,
due to the increased billet shipments, together with higher costs
of scrap steel and other raw materials of 8.2% and 17.9%,
respectively,and a 9.2% increase in profit sharing costs, in spite
of reduced shipment levels for bar and fabricated products.

(ross earnings as a percentage of sales increased from 7.3% in
2003t017.6%in 20014, primarily, as a result of the higher selling
prices for all product classes, which more than offset higher scrap
costs. Gross earningsias a percentage of sales increased from
17.6% in 2004 to 18.8% in 2005, mainly, due to the higher selling
prices for all product classes, in spite of the increased volume of
lower margin billets (which historically have a margin well below
finished steel margins), and the effects of reduced raw steel
(-1.3%) and mill (-6.8%) production levels on fixed costs, and
higher scrap steel costs. The Company experienced a widening of
our gross margins during 2005 and 2004 as our average selling
price per ton increased quicker than our average scrap cost.

Repairs and maintenance expense, included in cost of sales, for
the years ended October 31,2005, 2004 and 2003 amounted to
$31,452,935,$26,372,867,and $19,585,305, respectively.
Repairs and maintenance fluctuates depending upon the
required needs duringeach of the periods mentioned. The
Company has no significant deferred maintenance and believes
its facilities are operating within reasonable productive
capacities. ‘
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Administrative Expenses
Administrative expenses increased 38.1% from 2003 to 2004.
Executive and other management compensation increased by
$4,518,611, insurance expense incr]eased by $3,172,778
(relating mainly to claims for workers’ compensation and heaith
bensfits) and professional fees increased by $1,30R,724 (most
in relation to the Sarbanes-Oxley Actb, more than offsetting the
bad debt expense reduction of $1,254,059. Administrative
expenses as a percentage of sales decreased from 7.2% to 6.4%

due to the inerease in sales. !
|

Total administrative expenses increa;sed in 3005, mainly, due to
increases in executive and other management compensation of
$2,656,668, professional fees of $l,’5?70,904 (most in relation
to the Sarbanes-0xley Act), and direc%ors’ retirement costs and
fees of $1,004,026. These expenses more than offset declines in
administrative insurance (workers' compensation and health
claims) expense of $2,663,075 and bad debt expense of
$1,637,349. The above mentioned reéirement costsrelatetoa
directors' retirement plan. Administriative expenses as a

percentage of sales decreased to 5.8% in 2005 due to the
increase in sales. 1

Interest Expense ‘
In 2004, interest expense declined dué to reduced average
borrowings and lower average interest rates. Interest expense
declined again in 83005, also as a resulk of reduced average
borrowings and lower average interest rates. In October 2004
the Company entered into a new ﬁve-y%ar loan agreement with
its banking syndicate. The new facility provides for a revolving
loan of up to $55,000,000 and a term lban of $30,000,000.

The new loans bear interest at the Company's option at (i) one,
two, three, six or, if available, nine or twelve month LIBOR as
selected by the Company, or (il) the gréater of (A) the prime rate
publicly announced from time to time by the loans
administrative agent, or (B) the effectifre federal funds rate
quoted by the Federal Reserve Bank of '}\TewYork plus 1/2 of 1%.
The term loan requires quarterly payments of principal in the
amount of $1,500,000 plus interest, and the revolving loan
requires quarterly payments of interes]‘t until the fifth
anniversary of the credit facility at which time the outstanding

principal balance of the revolving loan 1'\nust be paid in full.

Profit Sharing Expense !

Contributions to various profit sharing‘pla,ns are determined as
a proportion of earnings before income taxes and should
normally increase or decrease with earnings. During 2004
profit sharing expense increased due to the improved
profitability of the Company.

Again in 20035, each of the sponsoring companies accrued
benefits under their respective plans as a result of current
earnings, producing an increase from th'e 2004 levels resulting
from higher profitability. Profit sharin% expense included in

]
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cost of sales is applicable to plan participants who work within
the production areas of the various plants.

Interest Income

Interest income decreased in 2004 as a result of both reduced
interest rates and level of investments. During 2008, interest
rates began to improve, with virtually no change in investments,
resulting in increased interest income.

Antitrust Litigation Settlement

Other operating expenses were reduced by $97,902,
$3,061,820 and $520,960 for the years ended October 31,
2005,2004 and 2003, respectively, as a result of partial
settlements received in conjunction with a class action suit for
antitrust litigation against the Company’s graphite electrode suppliers.
No further payments are expected under this settlement.

Discontinued Operations

The January 87, 2008 sale and liquidation of RESCO Steel
Products Corporation, a wholly-owned rebar subsidiary, resulted
in the discontinued operations for the comparable years. The
year ended October 31,2003,2004 and 2005 reflect losses,
before tax benefits, from discontinued operations of $756,458,
$271,974 and $177,578, respectively. The 2005 year also
includes aloss of $1,340,685, representing the loss on the
disposition of the subsidiary.

Income Taxes

In 2004, the effective income tax rate was lower compared to
2003, mainly, due to a significant increase in earnings before taxes
and certain state income tax credits earned. The effective ingome
tax rate was relatively constant in 2005 compared to 2004. The
effective income tax rates for 2008, 2004 and 3003 were 37.4%,
37.4% and 40.4%, respectively.

FINANCIAL CONDITION, LIQUIDITY, AND CAPITAL
RESOURCES

At October 31,2008, working capital was $111,181,959, the
current ratic was .1 to 1 and the quick ratio was 0.9 to 1. These
are sound indicators of ample liquidity and & healthy financial
condition, together with the repayment of the prior year's
overdraft position. Current debt maturitiss of $21,586,640in
20086, $6,000,000in 2007 and in 2008, and $1,456,504 in 2009
will affect future liquidity and working capital.

Net cash provided by operations was $58,284,725 for the year
ended October 31,R008. Net cash flows related to operating
assets and liabilities increased $51,810,085 (2005 - $5,123,797;
2004 - ($46,686,288)), which was primarily attributable to
decreases in accounts receivable and inventories, and an increase
in accounts payable and other accrued expenses offsetting
decreases in accrued profit sharing and acerued income taxes.
Net earnings improved $9,873,185 (2005 - $40,319,433; 2004 -
$30,446,248). Earnings for 2005 included a $97,902 payment
received from graphite electrode plaintiffs in conjunction with a

class action suit for antitrust viclations. Amounts received
related to this matter wers $3,061,820 in 2004. The Company
incurred a loss of $1,340,685 on the sale of a subsidiary, reflected
inthe R005 year. With the continued favorable market conditions,
the Company anticipates future positive cash flows, which should
generate the cash needed to cover anticipated contractual
obligations and various planned capital expenditures.

Net-cash used in investing activities was ($3,692,037) forthe
year ended October 31,2008. Expenditures for property, plant
and equipment amounted to $8,026,478 for the year. During
2005 and 2004, net cash used in investing activities included
net proceeds of $4,206,829 and $4,002,236, respectively, from
the sale of a subsidiary and other investments, respectively,
partially used to pay down debt.

Net cash used in finaneing activities was ($37,762,007) for the
year ended October 31,2005, Cash dividends of $4,904,433 were
paid during 2005, compared to $3,951,443 in 8004, resulting
from the Company's increased dividend rate in late 2004. Net
cash used in financing activities included payments on long-term
debt of $64,208,868, with borrowings of $34,500,000 providing
cash in 2008. The overdraft position of $4,777,540 at the 2004
year-end was repaid during 2008. Most of the 2005 debt activity
related to the Company's revolving credit facility. With this
credit facility, the loans are secured by a pledge of the
outstanding stock in each of the Company's direct and indirect
subsidiaries and by & lien on the tangible and intangible personal
property of the Company and each of its subsidiaries. The
Company may prepay the loans at any time at its option, and is
required to make mandatory prepayments based on certain
circumstances. Since such circumstances existed at October 31,
2005, and during the year then ended, $15,586,640 of the long-
term revolver has been classified in current portion of long-tem
debt at October 31,2005, and must be prepaid by January 31,
2006. The loans are subject to various representations and
warranties and affirmative and negative covenants, including
the Company obligation to maintain aleverage ratio of less than
or equal to 3:1,to maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio greater
than or equal to 1.10:1,and to limit capital expendituresona
consolidated basis to no more than $75,000,000 over the term of
the credit facility. As to debt maturities, refer to contractual
obligations below. The revolving loan requires quarterly payments
of interest until the fifth anniversary date of the credit facility at
which time the outstanding principle balance must be paid in full.

The Company’s ability to meet its debt service obligations and
reduce its total debt will depend upon its future performance,
which in turn, will depend upon general economic, financial and
business conditions, along with competition, legislation and
regulations that are largely beyond its control. The Company
believes that cash flow from operations (improving with better
market conditions and corporate earnings), together with
availability on the new revolving credit facility, should provide
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the liquidity and capital rgsources necessary to remain competitive,
fund operations, and meet required debt retirement for at least
the next twelve mot;ths.

The Company was 1n compliance with the covenants of its loan
agreement as of Ocﬁober 31,2005 (see Note 5).

At October 31,2005, there were commitments for the purchase
of property, plant ai;d equipment of approximately $3,500,000.
These commitments, together with current debt maturities, will
affect future earnidgs, working capital and liquidity, and will be
financed from available cash reserves, internally generated
funds and the revolving credit facility.

During the year, borpowings decreased to $35,232,494 from

$64,960,960, and the ratio of debt tc?? equity declined t0.7to 1.
The percentage of long-term debt to total capitalization decreased
from 27.5% to 8.6% at year-end. These improvements resulted

from the pay down and 2004 reﬁnan]cing of long-term debt.

Management is of the opinion that agoption of the Clean Air Act
Amendments or any other environm;ental concerns will not
have & materially adverse effect on the Company’s operations,
capital resources or liquidity (see Nate 7). Applicable additional
future capital expenditures are pres?ntly estimated to be less
than $17,000,000 and will be completed and funded, as the
Company's financial regources permit.

}\
E\
The following table sets forth the Company’s contractual obligations at October 31,2008, and the effect such pbligations are expected to

have on liquidity and cash flow in future pericds:

i

l
Payments Due by Period l

‘ Less than 1-3 3-5 | More than

Contractual Obligations Total 1year years years l 5 years
Long-TermDebt .............. $ 35,043,144 $ 21,586,640 §$ 12,000,000 §$ 1,486,504 -
Interest on Long-Teri Debt (1) .. 3,300,000 1,800,000 1,800,000 200,'000 -
Capital Lease Obligations ...... 189,350 20,641 44 838 49,[520 $ 74,551
Operating Lease Obligations . ... 5,639,860 1,837,951 2,301,148 1,500,f761 -
Purchase Obligations .......... 3,470,179 3,470,179 - - -
Payments Under Derivative i

Commodity Instruments (R) .. 100,000 100,000 - - -
Other Long-Term Liabilities .... 3,120,909 360,000 725,000 745,000 1,290,909
Total ........ocnvvvvnn.t. $ 50,863,442 $ 28,875,411 § 16,670,786

outstanding debt balances, and scheduled principal payments as of October 31, 2008.

|
(%) Reflects|the maximum amount that the Company might incur under these instruments. ;
|

OFF-BALANCE SHEET FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

The Company has no c})ff-bala,nce sheet arrangements that have,
or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future effect on the
Company’s financial condition, changes in financial condition,
revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital
expenditures or capital resources.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The Company’s discussion and analysis of its financial
condition and results of operations is based upon its
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with U.S. generaﬂy accepted accounting principles.
Estimates and assumptions are made, during the preparation of
these financial statements that affect the amounts reported.
Periodically, the Compf;rmy evaluates its estimates, including
those related to contracts, warranties (if any), taxes, insurance
and environment. Under different assumptions and conditions,
actual costs may vary from these estimates. The Company’s
senior management ha%s reviewed these critical accounting
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|
policies and estimates with the audit committee.

The Company believes the following critical accounting policies
affect its more significant judgments and estimates used in the
preparation of its consolidated ﬁnanci%il statements:

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts -Alchwances for doubtful

accounts are maintained to provide forl estimated losses
resulting from the inability of the Company’s customers to make
required payments. Such allowances ar%e estimated based on
historical loss experience (relative to aging of accounts
receivable) and current market econorﬁic conditions affecting
our customers (1.e., bankruptey filing). {If the amount of actual
losses exceeds our estimates, or if the financial condition of the
Company’s customers were to deteriordte resullinginan
impairment of their ability to make pay]fnents, additional

allowances may be required. \

Impairments of Long-Lived Assets - TH’e Company reviews long-
lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying an}ount of such assets may

‘1
|
|
i




not be recoverable. Impairment losses are recorded on long-lived
assets used in operations when indicators of impairment are
present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be
generated during the life of those assets are less than the
assets’ carrying amounts. The impairment loss is measured by
comparing the fair value of the asset to its carrying amount.

Self-Retained Insurance Risks - The company has self-retained
insurance risks associated with coverage for workers’
compensation and insurance plans. Accrued liabilities have
been recorded based on estimates of the ultimate costs to settle
incurred and incurred but not reported claims. The Company’s
estimates are based on judgments and actuarial assumptions
regarding the frequency and severity of claims, historical claims
loss data, economic conditions and claim management and
settlement practices. If actual claims loss experience exceed our
estimates, additional accruals may be required.

Revenue Recognition - Revenue is recognized when title
transfers upon shipment. Additionally, revenue is recognized on
certain fabricated products sold pursuant to construction
contracts utilizing the percentage-of-completion method.
Percentage of completion is measured principally based on steel
consumed on finished product as a percentage of the estimated
steel required for each contract. The Company recognizes profit
at the time revenue is recognized, based on its estimates as to
the project status and the costs remaining to complete a
particular project. If actual consumption exceeds estimated
consumption, then the percentage-of-completion method is
adjusted to prorate revenue up to the amount allowed by the
contract.

Contingencies - Compliance with environmental laws and
regulations established by federal, state and local authorities
may subject the Company to additional costs. The Company
believes it is in complignce with such laws and regulations based
on currently available facts and present laws and regulations.

RECENTLY ADOPTED AND RECENTLY ISSUED
ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

On November 1,2004, the Company early adopted SFAS No. 123
(Revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment”. SFAS No. 123R
requires all share-based payments to employees, including
grants of employee stock options and purchases under employee
stock purchase plans, to be recognized as an operating expense
inthe income statement. The cost of such share-based
payments is to be recognized over the requisite service period
based on fair values measured on the grant date of the award.
The Company adopted SFAS No. 123R using the modified
prospective method. Under this method, SFAS No. 123R applies
to new awards and to awards modified, repurchased, or
cancelled after October 31,2004. Additionally, compensation
cost for the portion of awards for which the requisite service
has not been rendered that are outstanding as of October 31,
2004 is recognized as the requisite service is rendered. The

adoption of SFAS No. 123R had no effect on the Company's
financial statements for the first quarter of 2005 since the
requisite service had been rendered for all awards outstanding
as of October 31,2004. During 2005, the Company began to
recognize compensation cost for awards issued on January
28,3008, reflected in the 2005 statement of earnings, related to
its stock plans in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No.
133R.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, "Inventory
Costs-an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4". SFAS No. 151
amends the guidance in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, "Inventory
Pricing," to clarify the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle
facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material
(spoilage) and requires these costs be treated as current period
charges. In addition, SFAS No. 181 requires that allocation of
fixed production overheads to the costs of conversion be based
on the normal capacity of the production facilities. The
provisions of SFAS No. 151 are effective for inventory costs
incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15,2005, The
Company does not believe adoption of SFAS No. 151 willhave a
material impaet on its financial position, results of operations
and liquidity.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 1583, "Exchanges
of Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment of APB Opinion No. 29"
SFAS No. 153 replaces the exception from fair value
measurement included in APB Opinion No. 29 for nonmonetary
exchanges of similar productive assets with a general exception
from fair value measurement for exchanges of nonmonetary
assets that do not have commercial substance. A nonmonetary
exchange has commercial substance if the future cash flows of
the entity are expected to change significantly as a result of the
exchange. This Statement will be applied prospectively and is
effective for nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal
periods beginning after June 15,2008. The Company does not
believe adoption of this statement will have a material impact on
the Company's results of operations or financial condition.

In December 2004,the FASB issued FASB Staff Position
(“FSP™) No. FAS 109-1,“Application of FASB Statement No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified
Production Activities Provided by the American Jobs Creation
Act 0f 2004 (the Act)”. FSP No. FAS 109-1 clarifies that the tax
deduction for manufacturers provided for in the Act should be
accounted for as a special deduction rather than as atax rate
reduction. The manufacturers’ deduction is not available to the
company until fiscal year 2006. The company is evaluating the
effect the manufacturers’ deduction will have in future fiscal
years.

In March 2005, FASB Interpretation No. (“FIN") 47,
“Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations-an
Interpretation of SFAS No. 143", was issued. This
Interpretation clarifies that the term “conditional asset
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retirement obligation”, as used in SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for
Asset Retirement Obligations”, refers to a legal obligation to
perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and
(or) method of settlement are conditional on & future event that
may or may not be‘gwithin the control of the entity. Accordingly,
an entity is requiréd to recognize a liability for the fair value of a
conditional asset Ifetirement obligation if the fair value of the
liability can be reasonably estimated. This Interpretation is
effective no later than the end of fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2005. Retrospective application for interim
financial information is permitted but is not required. The
Company has not determined whether the adoption of this
Interpretation W11U have a material impact on the Company's
results of operations or financial condition.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounting
Changes and Error Corrections-a replacement of APB Opinion
No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3". This Statement replaces APB
Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes”, and FASB Statement No.
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3, “Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial
Statements”, and changes the requirements for the accounting
for and reporting of a change in accbunting principle. SFAS No.
184 applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle.
This Statement requires retrospect»’ive application to prior
periods' financial statements of chal,nges in accounting
principle, unless it is impracticable to determine either the
period-specific effects or the cumulz)mtive effect of the change. It
also requires that retrospective app‘}lication of achange in
accounting principle be limited to the direct effects of the
change. Indirect effects of a change|in accounting principle
should be recognized in the period of the accounting change.
This Statement is effective for accounting changes and
corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after
December 15,20085. The Company ci‘oes not believe that the
adoption of SFAS No. 154 will have al material impact on its
results of operations or financial condition.
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The Common Stock of Roanoke Electric Steel Corporation is traded on the Nasdaq National Market using the symbol RESC. At year end,
there were approximately 500 shareholders of record. All amounts below are per share,

2005 2004
Stock Prices Stock Prices Cash Dividends
High Low  High Low 2008 2004
First Quarter ...... $21.90 $15.50 $13.26 $9.30 $0.11 $0.05
Second Quarter .... _27.68 19.04 1483 12.10 0.11 0.10
Third Quarter ...... 20.56 15.36 14.87 11.60 0.11 0.10
Fourth Quarter . .... 21.96 16.89 16.88 13.35 0.11 0.11
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